IN THE MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

No. 2006-KA-01383-COA

ALBERT J. KEA

APPELLANT

Vs.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Simpson County, Mississippi

Julie Ann Epps (MS Bar No. 504 East Peace Street
Canton, MS 39046
(601) 407-1410
facsimile (601) 407-1435

E. Michael Marks (MS Bar No. Suite 730, The Plaza Building 120 North Congress Street Jackson, MS 39201 (601) 969-6711 facsimile (601) 969-6713

Wlm Andy Sumrall (MS Bar No. 406 East South Street
P.O. Box 1068
Jackson, Mississippi 39215
(601) 355-8775
facsimile (601) 355-7002

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. The trial court erred in admitting Bob and Lisa's unauthenticated passports to prove that they were in Turkey just before the fire.
- 2. Admission of the unauthenticated passports violated Albert Kea's right to confrontation.
- 3. The trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on the "two-witness" rule.
- 4. The evidence is insufficient to support the verdict or, in the alternative, the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.
- 5. The errors taken together are cause for a new trial.

Albert's wife was awarded custody. Albert's ex-wife moved and Albert was unable to locate her and their two sons. T. 212. In 1972, Bob was 18 and he stole a car. Bob testified that he stole the car to look for his father. T. 88. Albert got a call from Bob's grandmother asking for Albert's help. T. 213. Albert drove to Denver Colorado and got his son out of jail. T. 213.

Bob testified that he lives in Colorado and that he does not work but has been disabled for the last six and a half years. T. 41. He admitted that he had been convicted of car theft in 1972 when he was seventeen. T. 41-42. When he was twenty-three, he was convicted of menacing and resisting arrest. T. 42. In 1990, when he was thirty-six, he was convicted for passing bad checks and for making a false statement on a passport (this is important for reasons that will soon become apparent). T. 42. Bob also admitted that he had used various names over the years; Robert John Kea was his birth name but he had also been known as Robert John Cook, Robert John Beverly, Robert John Anderson and Robert John Keys. T. 42-43. Bob did not list for the jury the name of Robert John Key — the name in which his passport was issued.

Bob testified that he had worked as a nurse for twenty years. T. 43. He went to nursing school twice because the second time he was on the lam so he attended nursing school a second time under a different name so that he could earn a living. T. 44. Bob testified that the items contained in the list drawn up by his

from the Estes Park Museum in Colorado and 15 antique Elgin watches taken from the Elgin Area Historical Society Museum. When officials went to arrest Bob, they discovered that he had fled to Texas. He was tracked to a motel near Amarillo. When officers observed Bob leaving his car to walk into the motel, they approached him and identified themselves. Bob got back into his car and rammed the officers' vehicle. He then drove a mile down the interstate, pulled into a parking lot near a gas station, and shot himself in the head and died. *Appendix I, Ex. A; See also Motion to Dismiss Complaint, Appendix III.*

In Albert's defense, there were several witnesses who testified to having seen the various collectibles in Albert's house over the years. Larry Blair worked for a pest control business in Brookhaven. T. 145. He began servicing Albert's house approximately once a month beginning in 1995. T. 146. On some of those occasions, Albert's wife Ann would ask Larry to sit and have coffee and cake with her. T. 146. Several of the collectibles at issue were displayed in the kitchen. T. 147. Ann would often bring out an item to show Larry saying "Look what I've got this time." T. 147. Larry was asked to review the photos of the collectibles and identify those he had seen in the Kea home. T. 149. He was able to identify several that had been in the Kea home prior to the fire. T. 149.

Mary J. Starling testified that she used to live next door to the Keas, was a good friend to Ann and visited in the house all the time. T. 151-52. Starling

looked through the photographs of collectibles and identified those she recognized as having been in the Kea home. T. 152-167. Starling was familiar with Bob Kea. She knew that Ann and Albert had given him money on numerous occasions. T. 169. When Albert was in the hospital just before his house burned down, Starling saw that Bob was staying at his father's house. She testified that on one day, she saw Bob came out of the front door with a garbage bag filled with stuff from the house. T. 169.

Teresa Joy Tisdale testifed that Albert Kea was her husband's uncle. T. 177. Tisdale did not really know Bob Kea but knew him enough to recognize him. T. 177. Tisdale's husband had proposed to her in 1994. Around Christmas that year, Tisdale's fiance took her to meet his family. His mother lived in an apartment on the Kea property. T. 178. Tisdale was outside smoking when she saw Bob Kea taking a gun out of his father's window. He wrapped it in a blanket and put it in the trunk of his car. T. 178. Tisdale recognized some of the items pictured in the photos of the collectibles at issue in the Entergy lawsuit as items that had been in Albert's home. T. 179.

Lisa Terry Holloway has known Albert and Ann Kea practically all of her life. T. 182. Albert's father was married to Holloway's aunt and he (Albert's father) practically raised her. T. 182. Holloway would assist Ann in her housework. T. 183. She identified many of the collectibles as items she had seen

in Ann and Albert's house. 183-186. She remembers that just prior to the fire that burned up Albert's home, Albert was in the hospital. During that time, she saw Bob taking things out of the house and putting them in the trunk of his car. T. 187. Bob was out of breath and so Holloway asked if he needed some help. She and her sister Carol and their half-brother Buddy (now deceased) then assisted him in loading boxes into his van. T. 188. She did not see what was in the boxes. She spent twenty to thirty minutes assisting Bob. T. 189. Afterwards, Bob left with the boxes still in his van. T. 189.

Carol McMillan, like her sister Lisa, had also known Albert and Ann Kea all of her life. T. 194. She doesn't remember when it was exactly (she remembers that Albert was in the hospital) but she recalls that she, Lisa, and Buddy helped Bob load some small boxes into his van. T. 195, 198.

Helen Williams is Albert's sister. In the 1990s, she lived with her brother. T. 200. She was able to identify many of the collectibles as having been in Albert and Ann's home. T. 201-204. She had also seen the photographs themselves in their home. T. 204. After the fire, Helen testified, Bob offered to help his father figure out what the items were worth. He took all of the photos with him and said he would make up a list to help his dad out. T. 210.

Albert testified that his wife Ann, who died in August, 2003, liked collectibles. A lot of the things she wanted, she would have Bob purchase for her.

Ann and Albert would give Bob cash and he would pay for items with his credit card and in this way Bob could get free airline miles. T. 214. Bob would travel and bring back magazines and Ann would point out the things she wanted and Bob would obtain them on his next trip and bring the receipts back to Albert. T. 214-15.

Photographs of the collectibles had been stored in a safe and Albert was able to retrieve them after the fire. T. 224. Bob offered to help his father draw up a list of the lost items since he had purchased most of them for his father using Albert's money. T. 224.

Right after Ann died, Bob approached his father and asked him for \$50,000 for a down payment on a home. T. 227. Albert refused. His other children needed his help and Albert was ashamed of Bob's criminal activity. T. 226. A few weeks later, Lisa approached Albert and told him that if he did not give Bob the \$50,000, Bob was going to jail. T. 227. Lisa left angry when Albert refused to give them any money. Albert had not talked to the two since then. T. 227. ¹

¹ The timing of Bob's request for \$50,000 coincides with the time that federal authorities finally caught up with Bob on the 1991 federal bank fraud charges for which he had been on the lam for 13 years. See App. I, Ex. A. As the article in the Rocky Mountain News indicates, Bob appeared to have turned his life around at that point and the United States District Court Judge ordered Bob to pay back \$10,000 in bad checks and sentenced him to probation. App. I, Ex. A.

Albert testified that he did not know that Bob came to his house while Albert was in the hospital. T. 228.

On redirect, the prosecution, over the defendant's objection, introduced Bob and Lisa's passports to corroborate their testimony that they had been in Turkey the week before the fire. The passports were issued to Robert and Lisa Key. The passports were later amended to identify the bearers as Robert and Lisa Keys.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The only evidence that Albert Kea perjured himself during the Entergy trial was supplied by his son Bob and his son's wife Lisa. As a witness, Bob's credibility was a problem even if one were to take into account only those crimes to which Bob admitted at trial. Fortunately for the prosecution, although its case against Albert was based on the testimony of a convicted felon and liar, it had a piece of evidence that would buttress Bob's testimony. This evidence consisted of Bob and Lisa's passports indicating that Bob and Lisa were out of the country when Bob was alleged to have been raiding his father's house. The passports could not even be cross-examined. This was a good thing for the prosecution given that the passports were not even issued in Bob and Lisa's real names.

The defense objected to the introduction of the passports without proper authentication. This objection was denied. The introduction of the unauthenticated, unable-to-be-cross-examined passports, was error and violated Albert's right to confront the evidence against him. Under the facts of this case, the error was reversible.

A major error in this case was the failure to give the jury an important instruction – that of the "two witness" rule. Had the jury been given some guidance on the quantum of proof needed to convict Albert of perjury, they might

not have voted to convict in this case where the evidence was wholly insufficient to support the charge.

The evidence in this case was insufficient to support the verdict or, in the alternative, the verdict was against the weight of the evidence. The only admissible evidence that Albert Kea committed perjury, then, was the testimony of at Albert's truth-challenged son and the son's wife. This evidence was insufficient to establish Albert's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

Finally, if no single error requires reversal, it cannot be denied that the combination of errors in this case deprived Albert Kea of a fair trial.

LAW AND ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erred in admitting Bob and Lisa's unauthenticated passports to prove that they were in Turkey just before the fire.

Albert's witnesses testified that they saw Bob loading his van with boxes and bags taken from Albert's house just prior to the fire. Bob and Lisa testified that this could not be so as they just happened to be in Turkey that week. On redirect, the prosecution entered into evidence Bob and Lisa's passports — which were issued in the names of Robert and Lisa Key and later amended to change their last name to Keys — which contained visa stamps purporting to show that

Bob and Lisa were in Turkey the week of May 17, 1998. T. 257.² The defense objected to the admission of the passports on the grounds they were not authenticated. T. 258; RE 11. The trial court overruled the objection and the passports were entered into evidence. T. 258; RE. 12.

During closing argument, the prosecution urged the jury to look at the passports back in the jury room.

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, you heard those witnesses get up here and say while the Defendant was in the hospital the week before the fire Bob Kea came down to Magee, Mississippi and loaded up a van.

Now, if they told you that, which they did, they are liars. All of them lied. Because you've got proof in the pudding there with these passports. He can't be in two places at one time, can he? There are the passports. You're going to be taking them back there ad looking at them. They're going to say just what we said they said. I didn't keep Lisa Keys on that stand very long. She answered the questions just like Bob did because they were very quiet, syncly [sic] and that was the way it was, no complicated answers to what I asked her. She's never had been convicted of nothing [sic].

T. 299.

The stamps and seals purporting to be from Turkish customs officials on Bob and Lisa's passports are not accompanied by a "a final certification as to the

² The passports are marked as S-19 and S-20 and are located in the manilla envelope containing the exhibits.

genuineness of the signature and official position" of the requisite Turkish official. M.R.E. 902(3) requires this before a foreign public document can be admitted.

M.R.E. 902(3) provides as follows:

3) Foreign public document. A document purporting to be executed or attested in the official capacity of an individual authorized by the laws of a foreign country to make the execution or attestation, and accompanied by a final certification as to the genuineness of the signature and official position (i) of the executing or attesting individual, or (ii) of any foreign official whose certificate of genuineness of signature and official position relates to the execution or attestation or is in a chain of certificates of genuineness of signature and official position relating to the execution or attestation. A final certification may be made by a secretary of embassy or legation, consul general, consul, vice consul, or consular agent of the United States, or a diplomatic or consular official of the foreign country assigned or accredited to the United States. If all parties have been given a reasonable opportunity to investigate the authenticity and accuracy of an official document, the court may for good cause shown order that it be treated as presumptively authentic without final certification or permit it to be evidenced by an attested summary with or without final certification.

A passport must be authenticated in order to be admitted into evidence.

Gullotta v. United States, 113 F.2d 683, 686 (8th Cir. 1940). In United States v.

Weiss, 491 F.2d 460 (2d Cir. 1974) cer. denied 419 U.S. 833, 95 S.Ct. 58, 42

L.Ed.2d 59, the defendant wanted to introduce his passport in order to prove that he was not in Bangkok at the time was alleged to have met with his coconspirator. The passports bore no stamps or entries indicating that the bearer was in Thailand during the relevant period. The trial court excluded the passports on the ground that they had not been authenticated properly. On appeal, the Second Circuit agreed that the passports were inadmissible. For the passports to be admitted to prove what the defendant wanted them to prove – that he was not in Bangkok during a certain time period - this would require "proof by authorities of Thailand that if [the defendant] had entered or left that country during the relevant period entries would surely have been placed upon the passports. *Weiss*, 491 F.2d at 460.

In a civil case, the defendant moved to have her passport admitted into evidence to prove that she was in Hong Kong during the time that she was allegedly served with the complaint in New York. *Overseas Trust Bank LTD v. Poon*, 581 N.Y.Supp.2d 92 (1991). Stamps in her passport indicated that she entered Hong Kong in early April, 1988 and left at the end of the month. The trial court refused to admit the passport to prove the defendant's whereabouts. On appeal, the New York Supreme Court held that exclusion of the passport was not error where the defendant offered "no attestation or testimonial authentication by the Hong Kong authorities who had affixed the stamps on her passport. *Overseas Trust Bank*, 581 N.Y.S.2d at 93.

The passports in this case were not even issued to Robert Kea in his real name. Instead, they were issued to Bob and his wife under first one of his aliases and then corrected to reflect a different alias. The passports were inadmissible without proper authentication. If there were any case where that rule should not be relaxed, it is this one wherein the passports were not even issued under the bearers' real names.

Given the importance of the passports to the prosecution's case – Bob's word alone was certainly not worthy of much consideration – their introduction without proper authentication could not be considered harmless error. And authentication was sorely needed here where the bearer of the passport not only employed various names but also had been convicted of making a fraudulent statement on a passport.

2. Admission of the unauthenticated passports violated Albert Kea's right to confrontation.

The comment to M.R.E. 902 warns that "When self-authenticating records are offered against the defendant in criminal cases, the rights of the defendant under the confrontation clauses of Federal and State Constitutions must be considered." The United States Constitution as well as the Mississippi Constitution, provides that a defendant has the right to be confronted with the witnesses against him. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Article 3, Section 26 of the

Mississippi Constitution of 1890. While the United States Supreme Court has held that the confrontation clause is satisfied by evidence that falls "within a firmly rooted exception to the hearsay rule," when it did so, it held that the Confrontation Clause was satisfied when the proffered hearsay has **sufficient guarantees of reliability** to come within a firmly rooted exception to the hearsay rule. White v. Illinois, 502 U.S. 346, 112 S.Ct. 736, 116 L.Ed.2d 848 (1992) (holding that admission of excited utterances and medical examination evidence without foundation testimony or proving unavailability of witness did not violate Confrontation Clause of criminal defendant facing sexual assault charges). The reason for this is that "a statement that qualifies for admission under a 'firmly rooted' hearsay exception is so trustworthy that adversarial testing can be expected to add little to its reliability." White, 112 S.Ct. at 743.

The unauthenticated visa stamps in the passports issued to Robert Key/Keys and Lisa Key/Keys are not sufficiently reliable as to preclude any concern for Albert Kea's right to confront the evidence against him especially given that the passports were issued under aliases – indeed, two different aliases – to a person previously convicted of making a false statement on a passport. T. 42. This violation of Albert Kea's right to confront the evidence against him requires that he be given a new trial.

3. The trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury on the "two-witness" rule.

Albert Kea's jury may not have convicted him on such flimsy evidence if the jury had been properly instructed on the "two-witness" rule. "It has long been the law of Mississippi that an instruction concerning the quantity of evidence required in a perjury trial should be given by the State." *Hale v. State*, 648 So.2d 531, 536 (Miss. 1994). The failure to give such an instruction is reversible error. *Id. citing Nash v. State*, 244 Miss. 857, 147 So.2d 499, 502 (1962); *Gordon v. State*, 158 Miss. 185, 128 So. 769 (1930); *Saucier v. State*, 95 Miss. 226, 48 So. 840, 841 (1909) and *Weiler v. United States*, 323 U.S. 606, 611, 65 S.Ct. 548, 551, 89 L.Ed. 495 (1945).

While the defense in this case did not request an instruction on the "two-witness" rule, some instructions are so important that the trial court has a duty to give them sua sponte. *Robinson v. State*, 735 So.2d 208 (Miss. 1999) (holding that the trial judge has a responsibility to give *sua sponte* a limiting instruction when prior convictions are sought to be admitted under M.R.E. 609(a)(2)). This is the case with regard to the quantum of evidence required in a perjury case. In *Nash v. State*, 44 Miss. 857, 862, 147 So.2d 499, 501 (Miss.1962) neither the state nor the defense requested an instruction on the two witness rule. The Court reversed noting that it

has held in a long line of decisions that, although the other allegations of the indictment may be proved by a single witness, the falsity of the allegedly perjured statement must be established by the testimony of at least two witnesses or by one witness and corroborating circumstances and a conviction for perjury may not be secured and sustained on the uncorroborated testimony of one witness to the falsity of the allegedly perjured statement on which the perjury is assigned.

Nash, 147 So.2d at 502.

Furthermore, the Court stated,

The jurors empaneled to try the perjury case were the sole judges of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given to the testimony of each witness. It was important that the jurors be correctly informed as to the 'quantity' of proof required to authorize a conviction for perjury; and the State, somewhere in its own charges, should have asked that the jury be informed that, before they could convict, it must be shown to their satisfaction by the testimony of two witnesses or the testimony of one witness and corroborating circumstances that the appellant's allegedly perjured testimony before the grand jury was false.

Nash, 147 So.2d at 503.

The trial court committed reversible error by failing to instruct the jury in accordance with the "two witness" rule as required in perjury cases. Given the quality of the evidence in this case – or, rather, the lack of quality of the evidence in this case - the failure of the trial court to properly instruct the jury on the two witness rule was reversible error.

4. The evidence is insufficient to support the verdict or, in the alternative, the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

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