## ALBERT J. KEA

## FILED

APPELLANT

OCT 0 4 2007 OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2006-KA-1383

VS.

### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

## **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

#### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

## JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING THE PASSPORTS; THAT THE CLAIM THAT THE ADMISSION OF THE PASSPORTS VIOLATED THE APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO CONFRONT WITNESSES AGAINST HIM IS NOT BEFORE THIS COURT

2. THAT THE FAILURE TO GIVE A "TWO WITNESS" INSTRUCTION WAS HARMLESS ERROR

3. THAT THE VERDICT WAS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE; THAT THE VERDICT WAS NOT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

## 4. THAT THERE IS NO CUMULATIVE ERROR IN THIS RECORD AMOUNTING TO CAUSE FOR A NEW TRIAL

#### ARGUMENT

## 1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING THE PASSPORTS; THAT THE CLAIM THAT THE ADMISSION OF THE PASSPORTS VIOLATED THE APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO CONFRONT WITNESSES AGAINST HIM IS NOT BEFORE THIS COURT<sup>2</sup>

In the course of the State's rebuttal case, the State sought to introduce passports belonging to Robert John Kea and Lisa Kea. Its purpose was to show that there were customs stamps in the passports from Turkey and Great Britain covering the time period that Robert John Kea was said to have been taking things from the Appellant's house.

The Appellant objected to admission of the passports, alleging that they or the stamps therein had not been properly authenticated. The trial court overruled the objection, holding that, while it did not accept the passports as being official documents of the government of the United States or of a foreign government, the notations in the passports were merely notations

 $\Rightarrow \mathbf{x}$ 

concerning arrivals and departures. It found the passports admissible for that reason. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 256 - 258; 269).

First of all, to the extent that the Appellant here asserts that his right to confront witnesses was violated by the admission of the passports, we note that there was no objection in the trial court on that ground. To the extent that the Appellant asserts here that the passports or stamps were hearsay, no hearsay objection was raised in the trial court. The hearsay claim is barred. *Bailey v. State*, 960 So.2d 583 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

The Appellant alleges that the stamps and seals of Turkish customs officials were not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In this response we will address the Appellant's First and Second Assignments of Error.

properly authenticated under M.R.E 902(3). He further asserts that a passport must be authenticated in order for it to be admitted to evidence, citing *Gullotta v. United States*, 113 F.2d 683 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1940 and *United States v. Weiss*, 491 F.2d 460 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1974). However, again turning to the objection as made in the trial court, the Appellant did not object to the stamps of the Turkish officials. He objected to the introduction of the passports, though without citing any rule of evidence. Nonetheless, the trial court appears to have considered the stamps, and while its ruling is obscure, at least to us, it seems that it was of the view that the stamps were not acts of a foreign government.

Rule 902 provides that certain documents are self - authenticating and that extrinsic evidence of authenticity is not required as a condition precedent to admission. While it is true that under subsection (3) foreign documents require a final certification, we submit that stamps affixed to a passport are not foreign documents within the meaning and intention of that subsection. We submit that the testimony of the passport holders was sufficient to authenticate the fact of the stamps.

M.R.E. 902(3) speaks to "... documents purporting to be executed or attested in his official capacity...." A stamp affixed to a passport, indicating entry into a country, is not a document executed or attested to. These stamps give no more information than the date and place of entry. Unlike foreign court decrees, deeds and other such documents, these stamps are not documents.

We submit that, as to stamps affixed to passports, it would be completely sufficient for the passport holder to testify that they were affixed in his presence. Under M.R.E. 901(a), (b)(1),(10), a witness with personal knowledge may testify to such.

It is true that in Overseas Trust Bank LTD v. Poon, 181 A.2d 762, 581 N.Y.S. 2d 92

(N.Y.A.D. 2 1992), the court there held that it was not error to refuse admission of a passport showing stamps from customs officials of another country where there was no attestation or testimonial authentication by officials of that other country, but that holding did not state that it would be error had the trial court done so. Nor did it specifically hold that only officials from another country could provide authentication. And, of course, the decision is no authority here. In *Gullotta v. United States*, 113 F.2d 683 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1940), it was held that the admission of a passport by the King of Italy was error. However, it was error because there was no evidence at all to authenticate the document. It was for that reason that the passport in that case was incompetent evidence. Here, though, the passports were authenticated by the passport holder, and, of course, the passports themselves do not purport to be documents issued by a foreign government.

United States v. Weiss, 491 U.S. 460 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1974) involved an attempt by a defendant to introduce a passport to prove that he had not entered Thailand. In other words, the attempt was made to show, by the lack of customs officials' stamps, that the defendant was not in the country. The court held it would have been necessary to prove that the customs officials in Thailand would have invariably affixed such stamps to passports. Since this was not done, the trial court did not err in refusing admission of the passports. This is not the situation in the case at bar.

In any event, these federal cases are not authority in this Court. Since their factual settings are similar, they are not useful as persuasive authority.

As for the passports involved in the case at bar, we think the witnesses sufficiently authenticated them. The passports were sufficient to allow them entry into another country and re-entry into the United States. Whether they were really and truly passports issued by the government of the United States was not actually that important of a question. What was

important and relevant was, whether valid passports or not, they were used as such.

In the event that the Court should find that the admission of the passports and contents therein was error, we submit that it was harmless error. The witnesses testified as to their whereabouts at the time the Appellant was in the hospital and at the time of the fire; the passports were merely cumulative of that testimony. Where a fact has been proved by competent testimony, here the testimony of Robert John and Lisa Kea, the erroneous admission of other testimony or evidence as to the same fact is harmless error. *Chisolm v. State*, 856 So.2d 681 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

As for the alleged denial of the right of confrontation, the Appellant did in fact crossexamine the holders of the passports as to their presence in Turkey at the time of the fire and at the time the Appellant was in the hospital. This was sufficient. Even had the prosecution thought to have had the passports or the stamps therein certified, there would have been no live witness at trial to cross-examine concerning the certification. The admission of the passports did not violate the Appellant's right to confront witnesses against him. In any event, should the Court determine otherwise, any violation of this right, under the facts of this case, would be harmless as well, for the same reason stated above.

The First and Second Assignments of Error are without merit.

# 2. THAT THE FAILURE TO GIVE A "TWO WITNESS" INSTRUCTION WAS HARMLESS ERROR

In the Third Assignment of Error, the Appellant claims that the trial court erred in failing to give a "two witness" instruction. However, the Appellant also admits that he did not request one be given. He asserts that, notwithstanding his failure to request such an instruction, the trial court erred in failing to give one. The "two witness" instruction rule has been a constant and vexing problem in perjury cases. Why it should be so is obscure to us. Perhaps it is because prosecutions for perjury are relatively rare and that because of that fact the trial courts and prosecutors are forgetful of the law concerning it.

The "two witness" rule is a rule from the common law. In perjury cases, the jury is to be instructed that "... the falsity of an allegedly perjured statement must be established by the testimony of at least two witnesses or by one witness and corroborating circumstances ...." *Hale v.* State, 648 So.2d 531 (Miss. 1994); *Nash v. State*, 44 Miss. 857, 147 So.2d 499 (1962). This seems to have been the rule in this State since 1879, at least. *Brown v. State*, 57 Miss. 424 (1879). *Nash* further holds that it is error to fail to give this instruction, even if it is not requested by the State or the defense, unless the accused's own testimony establishes the perjury, or unless the evidence established by the State so clearly demonstrates the accused's guilt that his conviction would have been inevitable. While we have attempted to persuade this Court to abandon this hoary rule, the Court has declined to do so. *Hall v. State*, 751 So.2d 1161 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999).

The facts of the case at bar demonstrate clearly that the possessions claimed by the Appellant were not in his house and were not destroyed by the fire. He admitted this. There is no question but that he stated under oath, in the civil action against Entergy, that the items were in the house and so destroyed. There were two witnesses who testified that the items the Appellant claimed were never in the Appellant's house. We submit that the verdict of guilty would have been inevitable; thus any error in failing to grant the instruction was harmless. *Gordon v. State*, 158 Miss. 185, 128 So. 769 (1930).

## 3. THAT THE VERDICT WAS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE; THAT THE VERDICT WAS NOT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

In considering the Appellant's claims that the verdict was not supported by the evidence or, alternatively, that it was opposed to the great weight of the evidence, we bear in mind the respective standards of review applicable to them. *May v. State*, 460 So.2d 778 (Miss. 1984).<sup>3</sup>

Summarized, the facts of this case in support of the verdict, taken as true and together with all reasonable inferences therefrom were these. The Appellant's house caught fire and burned down, the fire destroying much, if not all, that was in it. The Appellant was of the view that Entergy was at fault for the fire, so he sued the company. A part of his claim for damages involved a list of collectible items, which he maintained belonged to him or his wife and which had been destroyed in the fire. He testified under oath to that effect at the trial on his lawsuit against Entergy. A transcript of that testimony was put into evidence in the trial of the case at bar.

However, the Appellant's son and daughter-in-law testified that none of the items were in the Appellant's home at the time of fire. Indeed, none had been destroyed. They were in the Appellant's son's home in Colorado at the time of the fire. The son denied having taken the items from the home while the Appellant lay in the hospital. The son and his wife were in Turkey at that time.

It is true enough that there was evidence opposed to the State's evidence, but, when considering whether the evidence was sufficient to permit a jury to pass on the question of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> At pages 20 - 21 of the brief for the Appellant, the Appellant cites federal cases for what he considers to be the federal standard of review by which sufficiency of the evidence claims are analyzed. Those cases have no relevance here. The federal standard of review is entirely irrelevant as well.

Appellant's guilt or innocence, the evidence opposed to the verdict is to be ignored.

The State was required to prove that the Appellant wilfully and corruptly swore, testified or affirmed to a material matter under oath in a court of law. Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-9-59 (Rev. 2006). The State, with two witnesses and the civil trial transcript, proved this.

There is no question but that the Appellant testified under oath in the civil trial. Likewise, there is no issue as to whether the items that the Appellant testified had been destroyed were, in fact, not destroyed. The contested issued in the case was whether the Appellant wilfully and corruptly and falsely swore as to the existence of the items and their destruction in the fire.

Given the testimony of the State's witnesses to the effect that the items were at no time in the Appellant's house, if believed by the jury, the Appellant's testimony at the trial of the Entergy suit could only have been wilful and corrupt, and false. A reasonable jury could easily have concluded this. The Appellant's testimony at the civil trial was certain and unambiguous concerning the presence of the items at his house. The trouble with his testimony was that it was simply untrue.

The Appellant points to certain credibility issues involving Robert John Kea. Indeed, this person did have such issues. However, in assessing whether the evidence was sufficient to allow a jury to pass on guilt or innocence, this Court is not to make credibility determinations. This Court is to take the testimony and evidence in support of the verdict as true, it being the jury's task to make credibility choices. Beyond that, this Kea's wife testified to the same facts. There is nothing suspect about her testimony.

As for the denial of the motion for a new trial, we find nothing unconscionable about the verdict. It is quite true that the Appellant's defense was mistake – that he was unaware that his son had removed the items from his home while he lay in the hospital. This, though, was an

issue for the jury to determine. It may be that there was some testimony to the effect that the Appellant's son was seen at his father's house, taking packages away, but there was no testimony as to what might have been in those packages. Beyond this, there was testimony that the son and his wife were out of the country when the son was supposed to have been in the Appellant's house. This testimony was supported by the stamps in the passports.

In addition, there was testimony that, after the conclusion of the suit against Entergy, when the Appellant supposedly learned that the items he supposedly thought had been destroyed were not, he did not at any time request return or them, or go to Colorado to retrieve them. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 252 - 253). This was certainly a peculiar thing for man to do, if in fact the property was ever his to begin with and rightfully in his possession.

The testimony concerning the Appellant's guilt cannot be reasonably thought to be unreasonable or highly improbable. The trial court did not err in denying the Appellant motions for a directed verdict and did not err in denying relief on the Appellant's motion for a new trial.

The Fourth Assignment of Error is without merit.

## 4. THAT THERE IS NO CUMULATIVE ERROR IN THIS RECORD AMOUNTING TO CAUSE FOR A NEW TRIAL

In his final Assignment of Error, the Appellant alleges that the trial court committed several evidentiary errors that, cumulatively, effectively deprived him of a fair trial. The Appellant, however, has not troubled himself to tell this Court what those several errors might have been – whether they are the supposed errors alleged in his foregoing assignments of error, or whether he has some other ideas of error. This being so, we have nothing to respond to.

It is the State's position that the trial court committed no reversible errors in the course of this trial. Consequently, there can be no cumulative reversible error.

### CONCLUSION

The Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.